### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	)			
	)			
Appellant,	)			
v.	)	Case	No:	SC06-157
	)			
JOHN ANTHONY RUBIO,	)			
SONIA BONILLA GUZMAN,	)			
ANAMARIA BONILLA MENDEZ,		)		
ILIANA MARTIN-FERNANDEZ,		)		
and GUSTAVO ADOLFO FERNANDEZ,	,	)		
	)			
Appellees.	)			
	)			

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, STATE OF FLORIDA

On Appeal From The District Court of Appeal, Fifth District of Florida

> CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHRISTOPHER M. KISE Solicitor General Florida Bar No. 0855545

LOUIS F. HUBENER Chief Deputy Solicitor General Florida Bar No. 0140084

JAMES A. MCKEE Deputy Solicitor General Florida Bar No. 638218

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal of a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal declaring section 409.920(2)(a), Florida Statutes, prohibiting the making of false Medicaid claims, unconstitutional under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. App. 1.<sup>1</sup>

Although the decision upheld the constitutionality of section 817.505(1), Florida Statutes, which prohibits splitfee arrangements in return for referring patients, it ruled the State could not charge multiple violations of this statute. It also ruled that violations of section 817.505(1) do not constitute racketeering activity as defined in Florida's RICO statute, section 895.02, or white collar crime as defined in section 775.0844.

The Fifth District's decision thus affirmed the trial court's dismissal of 127 counts of the 130-count information and rendered useless the remaining three counts, as all predicate acts supporting these counts were dismissed.

#### Background Facts

In October 2003, the State of Florida, through the Office

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court has under review the question of whether section 409.920(2)(e), Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional under the Supremacy Clause. <u>See State v. Harden</u>, Case No. SC04-613 (argued April 5, 2005). Section 409.920(2)(e) prohibits, <u>inter alia</u>, kickbacks for patient referrals.

of the Statewide Prosecutor, filed a 130-count information against Sonia Bonilla Guzman and Anamaria Bonilla Mendez, who are dentists, and three co-defendants, John Anthony Rubio, Iliana Martin-Fernandez, and Gustavo Adolfo-Fernandez. R1: 64-200. From the information, the probable cause affidavit, R1: 57-62, and representations of defense counsel, R1: 9-10 and R3: 452-53, the Fifth District gleaned the following background facts:

> Guzman and Mendez are dentists who office in operated dental а Miami. According to the state, they were recruited come to Orlando to provide dental to services Medicaid-eliqible children. to Rubio and Gustavo Fernandez solicited these children primarily from public housing areas and transported them to and from the clinic. The dentists billed Medicaid and split the fees with Rubio. Five Medicaid recipients were examined by a pediatric dentist who found no evidence to support the claims submitted on their behalf.

> According to the defendants, the fee arrangement was actually between their Bonilla corporations Professional \_ Services operated by the dentists and Dental Management, Inc., a dental practice management company owned by Rubio. Rubio's company markets for the dental practice, handles the business aspects of the dental practice and lets the dentists do the In return for getting a clinical work. dental office and turnkey marketing, Rubio's company is paid between 42% and 43% of the compensation received by the dentists for their services. The defendants consider this to be a legitimate dental practice management fee.

Slip Op. at  $5-6.^2$ 

#### The Information

Counts 1, 2, and 130 of the information charged defendants with violations of RICO, RICO conspiracy, and the White Collar Crime Victim Protection Act, respectively sections 895.03(3), and 895.03(4), and 775.0844, Florida Statutes. R1: 64-200, et seq.

Counts 3-55 and Predicate Incidents 1-53 of Counts 1, 2, and 130 alleged the defendants knowingly made or caused to be made false statements to the Agency of Health Care Administration ("AHCA") in violation of section 409.920(2)(a), Florida Statutes.<sup>3</sup> The information charged that AHCA was

<sup>2</sup> While this case was in the trial court the State entered a nolle prosequi as to defendant Iliana Fernandez. R2: 389.

<sup>3</sup> Section 409.920(2)(a), Florida Statutes, makes it unlawful to

[k]nowingly make, cause to be made, or aid and abet in the making of any false statement or false representation of a material fact, by commission or omission, in any claim submitted to the agency or its fiscal agent for payment.

At all times relevant to this case (1999-2003) section 409.920(1)(d), Florida Statutes, defined "knowingly" as follows:

(1)(d) "Knowingly" means done by a person who is aware or should be aware of the nature of his or her conduct and that his or her conduct is substantially certain to cause the intended result. billed for Medicaid dental services that were not performed, only partially performed, or not performed correctly, and for radiation services administered by unlicensed or otherwise unqualified persons. R1: 64-200 et seq. More specifically, the defendants submitted claims for services supposedly rendered on 22 separate days when, according to the probable cause affidavit, surveillance established there was no activity at the dental clinic. R1: 61 (probable cause affidavit) and R1: 84-89 (Predicate Incidents 32-53). The radiation administered by defendant Rubio occurred on 25 different days. R1: 77-83 (Predicate Incidents 7-31).

Counts 56-129 and Predicate Incidents 54-127 of Counts 1, 2, and 130 alleged that the defendants violated the Patient Brokering statute, section 817.505(1)(b) and (c), Florida Statutes, by engaging in an illegal split-fee arrangement.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>4</sup>Section 817.505, Florida Statutes, provides:

817.05 Patient brokering prohibited; exceptions; penalties. -

(b) Solicit or receive any commission, bonus, rebate, kickback, or bribe, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, or engage in any split-fee arrangement, in any The information alleged that defendant Rubio referred or provided patients to the two dentists, Guzman and Mendez, in return for a percentage of the resulting fees. R1: 64-200 et seq. The probable cause affidavit asserted that of the \$715,378.55, defendants Guzman and Mendez received in Medicaid payments from July 2001 through October 2002, they paid defendant Rubio or his management company \$359,203.65. R1: 61.

# The Fifth District's Decision

Although the Fifth District reversed the trial court's unexplained ruling that section 817.505(1) was unconstitutional, it otherwise affirmed that court's judgment.

In ruling that section 409.920(2)(a) was preempted by the Supremacy Clause, the Fifth District relied exclusively on the decision of the Third District in <u>State v. Harden</u>, 873 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004). The Fifth District held that section

> form whatsoever, in return for referring patients or patronage to a health care provider or health care facility; or (c) Aid, abet, advise or otherwise participate in the conduct prohibited under paragraph (a) or paragraph (b).

> > \* \* \* \*

(4) Any person . . . who violates any provision of this section commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided by § 775.092, § 775.038, or § 775.084. \*\*\*\* 490.920(2)(a) and 490.920(1)(d) were preempted by the higher <u>mens</u> <u>rea</u> requirement of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(a)(1), which provides for purposes of federal prosecution that a false statement be made "knowingly and willfully."

The Fifth District rejected the Third District's more recent decision in State v. Wolland, 902 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), which construed section 409.920(2)(a) and held that "it is implicit in the filing of a false claim that the claimant intends to defraud the government, and hence unnecessary to charge willfulness separately." Id. at 284 (citation omitted). The Fifth District found section 409.920(2)(a) preempted because it "allows convictions for conduct that may be improper but was inadvertent. That is precisely the opposite of what Congress intended." Slip Op. at 10. The court made no finding that defendants were charged with negligent or inadvertent conduct and did not explain how repeated incidents of billing for services that were not performed and repeated incidents of billing for radiation services performed by an unqualified and unlicensed individual (defendant Rubio) could possibly constitute negligent or inadvertent conduct. In fact, defendants have not asserted in these proceedings that their conduct was negligent or

inadvertent.<sup>5</sup>

The decision further held that defendants could not be charged with 73 counts (Counts 56-129) of engaging in splitfee arrangements in violation of 817.505(1)(b) and (c), based on the alleged referral of patients on different dates in exchange for splitting the fees paid by AHCA. Although, as the State had pointed out in the motion hearing, R1: 19, 42-44, there was no evidence before the trial court of the nature of defendants' agreement, i.e., whether there was one agreement or a succession of agreements, the Fifth District assumed there was essentially one agreement and held that under the rule of lenity the statute should be construed to apply to the "arrangement as a whole" and not to "each time the defendants 'arranged' to refer patients and submitted requests for payment. . . . " Slip Op. at 22.

With respect to the RICO charges (Counts 1 and 2), the Fifth District held that the language of section 895.02(1)(a)29. which refers to "Chapter 817, relating to fraudulent practices, false pretenses, fraud generally, and credit card crimes" was not a reference to the title of that chapter, but only to those sections of Chapter 817 that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Although not applicable to this case, section 409.920(1)(d), Florida Statutes, defining "knowingly," was amended in 2004 to include the word "willfully." <u>See</u> ch. 2004-344, section 8, Laws of Florida (2004).

required proof of fraud. The court declined to read section 817.505 to include any element of fraud. Slip. Op. at 24.

The court reached a similar conclusion under section 775.0844, the "White Collar Crime Victim Protection Act," with respect to Count 130. That statute defines white collar crime to include:

> (3)(a) The commission of, or a conspiracy to commit, any felony offense specified in:

> 4. Chapter 817, relating to fraudulent practices.

§ 775.0844(3)(a)4., Fla. Stat. Based on the same reasoning it applied to the RICO counts, the court held that patient brokering as prohibited by section 817.505 does not constitute white collar crime because it does not require proof of fraudulent conduct.

Accordingly, the Fifth District affirmed the dismissal of Counts 56-129 as multiplicitous and the striking of Counts 1, 2, and 130 as not relating to fraud.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review governing decisions of law is <u>de</u> <u>novo</u>. <u>Execu-Tech Bus. Sys. v. New Oji Paper Co.</u>, 752 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 2000); <u>Armstrong v. Harris</u>, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000).

Whether a statute is facially unconstitutional is a pure question of law, and therefore subject to <u>de novo</u> review. <u>City of Miami v. McGrath</u>, 824 So. 2d 143, 146 (Fla. 2002). A statute comes before the court clothed with a presumption of constitutionality. <u>Department of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc.</u>, 434 So. 2d 879, 881 (Fla. 1983). All doubts as to constitutionality are to be resolved in favor of the statute. <u>See State v. Yocum</u>, 186 So. 448, 451 (Fla. 1939); <u>see also Capital City Country Club v. Tucker</u>, 613 So. 2d 448, 452 (Fla. 1993) (courts must interpret statutes in such a manner as to uphold their constitutionality if it is reasonably possible to do so); <u>Knight and Wall Co. v. Bryant</u>, 178 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1965) (an act will not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Section 409.920(2)(a), Florida Statutes, read in conjunction with section 409.920(1)(d), Florida Statutes (1999-2003), is not preempted by the higher mens rea standard of 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(a)(1) because i) Congress intended

that the states enforce their own Medicaid laws; ii) defendants were not charged with negligent or inadvertent conduct, and therefore lack standing to assert preemption on that basis, iii) state law is preempted only to the extent of actual conflict; and iv) the "should be aware" language of section 409.920(1)(d) is consistent with the "willful ignorance" doctrine, application of which furthers Congress's intent to combat fraud.

**II.** The information was not multiplicitous in charging defendants with engaging in split-fee arrangements on 37 separate occasions in violation of section 817.505(1)(b) and (c), Florida Statutes. On each of these occasions defendant Rubio referred Medicaid-eligible patients to defendant Guzman, who then submitted claims to AHCA and split the fee with Rubio. "Engaging in any split-fee arrangement" means not just having an agreement, as the lower court said, but engaging in the consequent acts of patient referral, submission of claims, and splitting the fee.

The "a/any" test has no application to section 817.505(1) because the statute is not ambiguous. "Any" simply means "all"--all split fee arrangements are prohibited.

III. A violation of section 817.505(1) is a predicate act because section 895.02(1)(a)29. refers to "fraudulent

practices" and "fraud generally," and patient brokering is a collusive, dishonest and fraudulent practice. In creating section 817.505, the legislature addressed what it thought to be "fraudulent health care practices associated with pay-forpatient schemes." The lower court erred in rejecting a plain meaning reading of section 895.02(1)(a)29. in favor of a speculative construction that actually adds words to the statute.

**IV.** A violation of section 817.505(1) constitutes a White Collar Crime pursuant to section 775.0844(3)(a)4. which refers to "Chapter 817, relating to fraudulent practices." Again, the lower court failed to understand that patient brokering is a fraudulent practice, and failed to give section 775.0844(3)(a)4. a plain meaning construction. Moreover, the conduct proscribed by section 817.505(1) clearly falls under the catch-all provisions of section 775.0844(3).

#### ARGUMENT

# I. SECTION 409.920(2)(a), FLORIDA STATUTES, READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH SECTION 409.920(1)(d), FLORIDA STATUTES (2003), IS NOT PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW.

This issue is virtually identical to the preemption issue presented in <u>State v. Harden</u>, Case No. SC04-613, and will likely turn on the Court's reasoning in that case. In fact, defendants' brief in the Fifth District did not even discuss preemption law but merely urged that court to follow the Third District's decision in <u>State v. Harden</u>, 873 So. 2d 352 (Fla. 3d DCA 2004), and reject that same court's decision in <u>State v. Wolland</u>, 902 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), which upheld section 409.920(2)(a), against a preemption challenge. The Fifth District erred in relying on <u>Harden</u> and finding section 409.920(2)(a) preempted.

The argument on this first issue is substantially the same as that presented in the State's <u>Harden</u> brief, except that I.A.2.c., <u>infra</u>, shows that the language of section 409.920(1)(d) is consistent with the "willful ignorance" doctrine, application of which furthers Congress's objectives.

#### A. Federal Preemption Principles Generally

Preemption analysis begins with the "basic assumption that Congress did not intend to displace state law." <u>Maryland</u> <u>v. Louisiana</u>, 451 U.S. 725, 746 (1981). This presumption

applies with all the more force to joint or coordinate state and federal programs, such as Medicaid,<sup>6</sup> that pursue common purposes. <u>Pharmaceutical Research and Mfrs. of America v.</u> <u>Walsh</u>, 538 U.S. 644, 666 (2003) ("The presumption against federal preemption of a state statute designed to foster public health . . . has special force when it appears . . . that the two governments are pursuing common purposes") (citations omitted); <u>New York State Dep't of Social Services</u> <u>v. Dublino</u>, 413 U.S. 405, 421 (1973) ("Where coordinate state and federal efforts exist within a complementary framework, and in the pursuit of common purposes, the case for federal preemption becomes a less persuasive one").<sup>7</sup>

When Congress legislates in a field traditionally occupied by the states, the states' police powers will not be presumed to have been superceded "unless that is the clear and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Medicaid is a cooperative state-federal program in which each participating state designs and implements its own Medicaid program subject to certain strictures established by federal law. <u>See</u> 42 U.S.C. § 1396a (prescribing general requirements of state Medicaid plan). <u>See also Harris v.</u> <u>McRae</u>, 448 U.S. 297, 309 (1980) (referring to Medicaid program as a "system of cooperative federalism").

See also Pharmaceutical Research and Mfrs. of America v. Concannon, 249 F.3d 66, 75 (1st Cir. 2001) (quoting <u>Dublino</u>); Wash. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. v. Bowen, 815 F.2d 549, 557 (9th Cir. 1987) (relying on <u>Dublino</u> and holding that because the Medicaid program consists of coordinated state and federal efforts that exist within a complementary framework, agency regulations do not preempt state community property law).

manifest purpose of Congress." <u>California v. ARC America</u> <u>Corp</u>., 490 U.S. 93, 101 (1989). Such a clear and manifest purpose or intent is not expressed in the Medicaid law. On the contrary, as a condition of participation in the Medicaid program Congress requires the states to maintain fraud and abuse control units to prosecute violations of "<u>state laws</u> regarding any and all aspects of fraud. . . ." 42 U.S.C. § 1396b(q) (emphasis added).

recognized three The Supreme Court has discrete categories of preemption under the Supremacy Clause: (1) express preemption, where a federal statute contains "explicit preemptive language"; (2) field preemption, in which the federal regulatory scheme is "so pervasive as to make reasonable the inference that Congress left no room for the states to supplement it"; and (3) implied conflict preemption, in which "compliance with both federal and state regulations is a physical impossibility" or where state law "stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purpose and objectives of Congress." Gade v. National Solid Wastes Mgmt., 505 U.S. 88, 98 (1992) (quotations and citations omitted). Express and field preemption are inapplicable in this case. See Pharmaceutical Research and Mfrs. of America

<u>v. Meadows</u>, 304 F.3d 1197, 1206 (11th Cir. 2002) (because "Medicaid is a cooperative state-federal program, in which each participating state designs and implements its own Medicaid program subject to certain strictures established by federal law," only implied conflict preemption applies). Although the Fifth District seemed to recognize that only implied conflict preemption could apply to this case, the court erred in its analysis.

### B. Implied Conflict Preemption

Implied conflict preemption occurs when "compliance with both federal and state regulations is а physical impossibility" or where state law "stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purpose and objectives of Congress." Gade, 505 U.S. at 98. The Fifth District's decision did not discuss whether compliance with federal both and state regulations is а physical impossibility, but it is clear that that argument, if made, fails.

# 1. Compliance with both federal and state regulations is not a physical impossibility.

Compliance with section 409.920(2)(a), Florida Statutes, unquestionably encompasses compliance with 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b. Appellees have never contended otherwise. To comply with both statutes, appellees need only refrain from knowingly

making or causing to be made false statements or false representations of material fact. Physical impossibility cannot form the basis for implied conflict preemption in this Compare Cox v. Shalala, 112 F.3d 151, 154 (4th Cir. case. 1997) (holding that North Carolina's Wrongful Death Act conflicted with the Medicare Act to the extent that it capped the amount of money that Medicare could recover for medical expenses it paid in connection with the provision of medical services to a Medicare beneficiary who died as a result of malpractice. The Medicare statute entitled the program to complete compensation and therefore presented an actual conflict with state law.); Congress of Cal. Seniors v. Catholic Healthcare West, 104 Cal. Rptr.2d 665, 667 (Cal. Ct. App. 2001) (holding that extensive and complex federal law governing cost reporting by hospitals precluded a claim that hospital's including certain anti-union expenses in annual Medicare cost reports constituted an unfair business practice under state law).

# 2. Section 409.920(2)(a) does not stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purpose and objectives of Congress.

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