No. SC06-157

In the Supreme Court of Florida

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

 \mathbf{v}_{\bullet}

JOHN ANTHONY RUBIO, SONAI BONILLA GUZMAN, ANAMARIA BONILLA MENDEZ and GUSTAVO ADOLFO FERNANDEZ,

Appellees.

On Appeal From the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District of Florida

JOINT BRIEF OF APPELLEES BONILLA GUZMAN & BONILLA MENDEZ

ANTHONY C. VITALE, Esq. ANTHONY C. VITALE, P.A. Brickell Plaza, Suite 700 Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: (305) 358-4500

G. RICHARD STRAFER, ESQ.
G. RICHARD STRAFER, P.A.
2400 S. Dixie Highway, Suite 200
Miami, Florida 33133

Telephone: (305) 857-9090

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

Even if this Court could overlook this obvious defect in the Third District=s analysis,

Wolland also incorrectly believed that the original mens rea requirement of

409.920(1)(d) was constitutional and not in conflict with an actual Aknowledge@standard. *See Wolland*, 902 So.2d at 285. Although the *mens rea* definition in '409.920 has now been amended, the structure of statute remains the same. Section 409.920(1) sets forth a series of definitions that apply across-the-board to the entire statute. Thus, '409.920(1) begins by stating A[f]or the purposes of this section@and then follows with a series of definitions, including subsection (1)(d), defining the term Aknowingly.@ Section 409.920(2) of the statute then delineates a series of violations, subsections (2)(a)-(f). Each of these violations uses the term Aknowingly@to define the operative *mens rea*.

As originally worded, ' 409.920(1)(d) defined the term Aknowingly@ as follows: Asknowingly=means done by a person who is aware *or should be aware* of the nature of his or her conduct and that his or her conduct is substantially certain to cause the intended result.@ (Emphasis added.)⁸ The defendants in *Wolland* were charged under the Afalse statement@component of ' 409.920(2)(a), which provides:

(2) It is unlawful to:

(a) Knowingly make, cause to be made, or aid and abet in the making of any false statement or false representation of a material fact, by commission of omission, in any claim submitted to the agency or its fiscal agent for payment.

⁸ As previously discussed, in 2004, the statute was amended to define Aknowledge@to include a Awillfulness@ requirement and eliminating the offending Ashould be aware@ language.

Under original ' 409.920(1)(d), Aknowingly@could mean *either* actual know-ledge B the standard employed in the federal false claims provision B *or* a type of negligence. That is, a defendant could be guilty of violating ' 409.920(2)(a) if he made a statement that the State claimed he Ashould be aware@ was false or even if he omitted something from a statement that he Ashould@have included. Therefore, the Third District was correct in *Harden* when it concluded that: AThis Florida definition of knowingly=would include mere negligence=...@ *Harden*, 873 So.2d at 355.

The Third District in *Wolland*, however, misconstrued the meaning of the original '490.920(1)(d). In *Wolland*, the Third District claimed that '490.920(1)(d) did not dilute the actual knowledge requirement of federal law (and, thereby, create a conflict preemption problem) because: ASimply put, one cannot negligently knowingly make ... [a] false statement ... in [a] claim submitted to the agency ... for payment. *Wolland*, 902 So.2d at 284-85.

This statement completely misapprehended the potential impact of the Ashould be aware@ language in the original ' 490.920(1)(d). As discussed above, ' 490.920(1)(d) defined the term Aknowingly@ to mean *either* actual knowledge *or* negligence (Ashould be aware@). Stated another way, the definition allowed the State to *substitute* negligence for actual knowledge. Prosecutions would thus be permitted under the theory that a defendant Ashould have known@a statement was false. For example, if a Medicaid provider were to bill Medicaid for a service but used the wrong billing code, inflating the cost of the service,

the State could, under ' 409.920(1)(d), claim that the submission constituted a criminal false statement in violation of ' 409.920(2)(a) because the provider Ashould have been aware@ of the correct billing code. Or, as in this case, if a Medicaid provider billed Medicaid for a service (such as a dental x-ray) performed by an employee who was not properly licensed, the provider would be guilty even if the licensure defect was one of negligence rather than actual knowledge of the licensure requirement.

Accordingly, contrary to the Third Districts construction in *Wolland*, '490.920(1)(d) created a similar preemption problem to the one in *Harden*. As the court in *Wolland* emphasized, the federal false claim statute requires a showing that the defendant actually A[knew] at the time he was making such claims that they were, in fact false. **

Wolland, 902 So.2d at 284, quoting *United States v. Laughlin*, 26 F.3d 1523, 1525 (10th Cir. 1994). And, the legislative history of the federal false claims statute makes clear that by requiring *Aknowledge** Congress meant that the statute *Awould not cover **errors resulting from mere negligence....** 132 Cong. Rec. '986 (Feb. 4, 1986), attached hereto as *Appendix 7*. In contrast, '490.920(1)(d) only required a form of negligence.

In one of the case parentheticals cited by the court in *Wolland*, the Third District implied that the federal actual knowledge requirement could sometimes be satisfied by a defendant=s Aconscious avoidance.@ *See Wolland*, 902 So.2d at 283, n. 7, citing *United Stats v. Nazon*, 940 F.2d 255, 258-60 (7th Cir. 1991). The State makes the same

argument here. *See* Initial Brief of Appellant, at pp. 21-23. Both the *Wolland* court and the State have mis-construed the Aconscious avoidance@doctrine.

Conscious avoidance is *not* the same as negligence. Federal law is quite clear that a conscious avoidance or deliberate ignorance instruction cannot be given unless the government first makes two factual showings. First, the evidence must show that the defendant was subjectively aware of a high probability of the existence of the fact in question. Second, the evidence must show that the defendant Apurposely contrived to avoid learning all of the facts in order to have a defense in the event of a subsequent prosecution.@ United States v. Perez-Tosta, 36 F.3d 1552, 1564 (11th Cir. 1994) (emphasis added), cert denied sub nom. Perez-Aguilera v. United States, 515 U.S. 1145 (1995). The instruction is proper only Aif a party has his suspicions aroused but then deliberately omits to make further enquiries, because he wishes to remain in ignorance....@ *United States v. Rivera*, 944 F.2d 1563, 1570 (11th Cir. 1991) (emphasis added). Indeed, it is this factual predicate requiring intentional conduct that avoids the criminalization of negligent conduct. See generally Rivera, 944 F.2d at 1570. The instruction is improper where all the government shows is negligence. See, e.g., United States v. Garzon, 688 F.2d 607, 609 (9th Cir. 1982); United States v. Beckett, 724 F.2d 855, 856 (9th Cir. 1984). See also United States v. White, 794 F.2d 367, 371 (8th Cir. 1986) (use of instruction was error).

Accordingly, the Court should reject the State=s reliance on this flawed argument in *Wolland*. The *Wolland* court=s conclusion that ASubsection 409.920(2)(a) is ... in harmony with the principles applicable to prosecutions under the federal false claims enactments@ is likewise fundamentally inaccurate. *See Wolland*, 902 So.2d at 285. Accordingly, the Court should reject *Wolland*=s flawed discussion of the *mens rea* requirement of ' 409.920(1)(d) and adopt the holdings of the Fifth District and Circuit Court in this case.

II. THE LOWER COURTS CORRECTLY RULED THAT '817.505(A) NEITHER CONSTITUTES ARACKETEERING ACTIVITY NOR A WHITE COLLAR CRIME BECAUSE IT IS NOT A CRIME ARELATING TO FRAUDULENT PRACTICES ©

Both the RICO charges in Counts 1 and 2 and the alleged violation of the White Collar Crime Victim Protection Act charged in Count 130 relied, in part, on multiple violations of '817.505(a) as their APredicate Incidents.@ However, as both the Fifth District and the Circuit Court correctly held, '817.505(a) does not meet the statutory definition of Aracketeering activity@ in F.S. '895.02(1)(a) or the statutory definition of Awhite collar crime@ in F.S. '775.0844(3)(a).

Section 895.02(1)(a) defines as Aracketeering activity,@in pertinent part, as A[a]ny crime which is chargeable by indictment or information under the following provisions of the Florida statutes ... Chapter 817, *relating to fraudulent practices, false pretenses*, *fraud generally, and credit card crimes*.@ (Emphasis added.) Section 775.0844(3)

similarly defines the operative term Awhite collar crime@as Aany felony offense specified in ... Chapter 817, *relating to fraudulent practices*.@ (Emphasis added.)

Chapter 817 literally contains dozens of crimes. The majority of these crimes expressly require proof of Afraud@ and/or an intent to Adefraud.@ However, numerous other crimes have been codified within Chapter 817 which fail to require either fraud or fraudulent intent. See, e.g., F.S. 817.30 (prohibiting the willful Awear[ing] of the badge or button of the Grand Army of the Republic, the insignia, badge or rosette of the Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, or of the Patrons of Husbandry, or the Benevolent and Protective Order of Elks of the United States of America, or of the Woodmen of the World ... unless entitled@to do so), F.S. 817.35 (prohibiting the sale or advertisement for sale of Acemetery lots or mausoleum space, upon the guarantee, promise, representation or inducement to the purchaser that the same may be sold or repurchased at a financial profit@); F.S. '817.36 (prohibiting the sale or resale of Aany ticket good for passage or accommodations on any common carrier@at a Aprice in excess of \$1 above the retail price charged therefor by the original seller); F.S. '817.39 (prohibiting the printing of documents Awhich simulate the seal of the state@ or a state agency); F.S. '817.482(b) (prohibiting the sale, transportation or advertisement of

⁹ See, e.g., in F.S. '' 817.034(4)(a), 817.037, 817.19, 817.22, 817.23, 817.155, 817.233, 817.234, 817.236, 817.2361, 817.24, 817.25, 817.26, 817.28, 817.29, 817.32, 817.33, 817.355, 817.50, 817.51, 817.52, 817.554, 817. 562 and 817.568.

equipment used to avoid payment of telecommunications services); F.S. '817.559 (prohibiting the failure to Acorrectly@label television picture tubes Ato indicate new and used components@); F.S. '817.5615 (prohibiting the knowing removal or defacing of identification marks on optical discs), F.S. '817.569 (prohibiting the knowing use of any public record to facilitate the commission of any first degree misdemeanor).

Although the legislative history of '817.505 may evince a Aconcern® with fraudulent health care practices, *see* Initial Brief of Appellant, at p. 31, the Florida Legislature nonetheless did not require proof of Afraud® or Afraudulent intent® as an element of the patient brokering offense. Indeed, as discussed in Section IV *infra*, the statute purports to create a strict liability offense requiring no *mens rea* element at all. Nothing in the legislative history suggests that the Florida Legislature was even aware that, in creating such an offense, it was also creating a RICO predicate. Since '817.505(1)(a) is not a crime that, as enacted, requires any proof of Afraud,® it does not Arelate to fraudulent practices® and, hence, constitutes neither a form of Aracketeering activity® nor a type of Awhite collar crime.®

The Fourth District Court of Appeal addressed a closely related issue in *State v*. *Gusow*, 724 So.2d 135 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (*per curiam*). In *Gusow*, the State charged the defendants with RICO using as Apredicate incidents@violations of the loan broker fraud statute, F.S. '' 687.141 and 687.146. Section 895.02(1)(a) defines Aracketeering activity,@ in pertinent part, as A[a]ny crime which is chargeable by indictment or

to interest and usurious practices. (Emphasis added.) Most of the crimes codified as part of Chapter 687 involved the crime of usury or unfair interest. The loan broker fraud statutes, however, did not. The trial court thus struck the loan broker fraud predicates, holding that F.S. '' 687.141 and 687.146 were not properly charged as RICO predicate incidents since loan broker fraud, though part of Chapter 687, was not a crime that Arelate[d] to interest and usurious practices. The State appealed the trial courts ruling but the Fourth District affirmed it.

In its Brief, the State does *not* contend (nor could it) that '817.505 requires proof of or relates to Afraud@ as defined by the common law and Florida statutes. Nor does it dispute that the Fourth District=s decision in *Gusow* supports the appellees=position. The State, however, contends that this Court should disregard the only Florida case on point and, instead, follow what it contends is a conflicting decision from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in *United States v. Kopituk*, 690 F.2d 1289 (11th Cir. 1982). *See* State=s Brief, at pp. 34-36.

The Court should reject the State=s invitation to discredit *Gusow*. The State has lifted its argument from Judge Polen=s concurring opinion in *Gusow*. *See Gusow*, 724 So.2d at 136-37. Judge Polen believed that *Kopituk* should have been followed but felt bound to follow the majority due to a prior decision by the Fourth District in *State v*. *Kessler*, 626 So.2d 251 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (*per curiam*), *rev. denied*, 634 So.2d 627

(Fla. 1994). The majority in *Gusow*, however, rejected Judge Polen-s attempted reliance on *Kopituk*. Moreover, the State unsuccessfully sought rehearing before the entire Fourth District, based presumably on Judge Polen-s concurrence.

The Fourth District correctly rejected Judge Polen=s attempted reliance on *Kopituk*, and this Court should as well. In Kopituk, the defendant was charged with a federal RICO offense based on predicate violations of the Taft-Hartley Act, 29 U.S.C. 186. Unlike '817.505, which is *not* specifically listed as a RICO predicate in Florida=s RICO or White Collar statutes, 186 is specifically listed as a RICO predicate in the Federal RICO statute. See 18 U.S.C. 1961(1)8) (defining the term Aracketeering activity@as including Aany act which is indictable under title 29, United States Code, section 186 (dealing with restrictions on payments and loans to labor organizations). The defendant in *Kopituk* argued that, despite the fact that Section 186 was expressly included by Congress as Aracketeering activity,@ the clause in the parenthetical (Adealing with restrictions on payments and loans to labor organizations@) served to limit the types of Section 186 violations that could be used a RICO predicates. See Kopituk, 690 F.2d at 1328, n. 36. The Eleventh Circuit, however, believed that the language in the parenthetical was merely Aincluded as a means to facilitate identification of 29 U.S.C. 186 and was not intended to

 $^{^{10}}$ The Fourth District in *Kessler* affirmed the dismissal of a RICO prosecution where the State claimed that the crime of Alewdness and assignation@under F.S.' 796.07 was a crime Arelating to@prostitution in F.S.' 895.01(1)(a)(16).

limit the definition of racketeering activity only to Taft-Hartley charges involving restrictions on payments and loans to labor organizations. *Id.*

Accordingly, Kopituk is not, as the State contends, in conflict with Gasow or the application of *Gasow* to the instant case. In contrast to the United States Congress, which included ' 186 within the statutory definition of racketeering activity, the Florida legislature did *not* include '817.505 within its definitions of either racketeering or white collar crime. Moreover, while ' 186 is a single statute, as discussed above, Chapter 817 is not. It is a conglomerate of statutes that includes numerous provisions having nothing to do with traditional concepts of Afraud. Under the States construction, a defendant could be charged with RICO based on a Apattern@ of wearing Elks Club buttons without authorization, see, e.g., F.S. '817.30, or a Apattern@ of advertising cemetery plots for resale, F.S. '817.35. The Court should strive to avoid a construction of statutes that leads to such absurd consequences. See generally Green v. Bock Laundry Machine Co., 490 U.S. 504, 427 (1989) (Scalia, J., concurring in judgment); Bob Jones Univ. v. United States, 461 U.S. 574, 586 (1983); State v. Atkinson, 831 So.2d 172, 174 (Fla. 2002) (citations omitted). The State=s construction is also contrary to the rule of lenity. See generally Scates v. State, 603 So.2d 504, 505 (Fla. 1992); Flowers v. State, 586 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1991).

Therefore, this Court should hold that *Kopituk* is inapposite, does not conflict with *Gusow* and should not be extended to apply here, since to do so would produce

unreasonable, harsh and absurd consequences. ¹¹ The Fifth District and the Circuit Court in this case correctly struck the patient brokering predicates. Since '817.505(1)(a) is not a crime that Arelat[es] to fraudulent practices, @ it fails to meet the statutory definitions of Aracketeering activity@ and Awhite collar crime. @

III. COUNTS 56-129 WERE PROPERLY DISMISSED AS MULTIPLICITOUS

A. The Multiplicity Doctrine

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